



European Pay-for-Performance Methodology

Frequently Asked Questions

Effective for Meetings on or after February 1, 2017 Last Updated: April 5, 2017



Table of Contents

PAY ME	THODOLOGY4
1.	How is the total pay figure calculated?4
2.	Why did ISS choose to use realised pay for the European model rather than granted pay as in the US and Canada?4
3.	How does ISS account for bonus deferral in the model?4
4.	How does ISS account for equity vesting periods in the model?4
5.	How are options valued under the European P4P model?4
6.	How does ISS translate granted pay disclosures into a realised equivalent for Swiss companies?5
7.	During the recent financial year, a company had multiple CEOs in post. How does the model handle this?6
8.	In a company where the CEO is not a Board Member and the lead Executive Director is the Executive Chairman, whose pay is used in the model?6
9.	Does ISS take into account the pay of other executive directors or the board as a whole in the European P4P model?6
10	. What comparator group will ISS use for companies whose annual meeting precedes that for most or all peers?6
MODEL	7
11	. What are the RDA, MOM and PTA models?7
12	. Does the RDA model always require three years of data?
13	. Why is the PTA chart not present for certain companies?
14	. Why does the model use TSR as a performance measure?7
15	. How were the thresholds for High, Medium and Low concern selected for the European model?



	10.	different currencies?	.8
	17.	How will the overall level of concern be calculated?	.9
	18.	How will the model be used in ISS benchmark research?	.9
PEE	RS		9
	19.	How were the ISS-selected peers allocated to a company?	.9
	20.	Will a company's self-selected peers always appear in the ISS peer group, if they meet ISS' size constraints?	
	21.	What is the minimum number of peers the model requires?	11
	22.	What are GICS codes? Who can a company contact if it disagrees with the GICS classification it has been assigned?	
	23.	If a company does not agree with its assigned peers, what should it do?	11
	24.	What opportunities will companies have to communicate changes made to their benchmarking peer groups following their more recent disclosures?	11
	25.	What companies can be used as peer companies? Will ISS use companies that an issuer considers as peers (specified in the proxy) to develop the ISS comparator group?	12
	26.	Why are there no peers from outside Europe in this model, given ISS already operates US and Canadian P4P models?	12
CO\	/ERAGE		12
	27.	How does a company know whether it will have a pay-for-performance profile?	12
	28.	How often is the coverage universe updated and when?	13
	29.	Why does the European P4P model operate a banded approach when this is not present in the US and Canadian models?	
	30.	Which countries sit in which bands, and how was this decided?	13



PAY METHODOLOGY

1. How is the total pay figure calculated?

This is described in the <u>white paper</u> which accompanied the launch of the model, but in essence, all figures in the European model are based on realised (i.e., vested) remuneration amounts. This differs from the U.S. and Canadian models which use granted pay.

The model assumes that a single total figure based on the CEO's realised pay for the year under review is available for all companies within the European model. Where such a figure is not available from the current disclosures, ISS has created a single total figure based on its understanding of local market practice. In certain markets where the standard is still to report granted pay values, this involved the local Research team applying consistent handling rules across the market to create a realised pay figure for the year under review.

2. Why did ISS choose to use realised pay for the European model rather than granted pay as in the US and Canada?

During the development of the model, the European research teams reviewed how pay is typically disclosed in each market and the outcome was that a model based on realised pay was felt to fit better with the general direction of pan-European market practice; this conclusion was subsequently verified with a number of large institutional investors during the model development phase.

3. How does ISS account for bonus deferral in the model?

During the year under review, the value of the deferred bonus counted by the model will be taken to be the portion of the annual bonus that has been earned and will be deferred, assuming that the deferred portion is not subject to any further performance conditions other than continued employment. In addition, payments from previous bonus deferrals should be included as payments during the year, if these were subject to performance conditions which have been satisfied.

4. How does ISS account for equity vesting periods in the model?

Share-based payments should reflect the value of share awards vesting over the prior year (i.e., "realised" or take-home equity-based pay). The value of time-vested restricted stock without performance conditions attached should be captured at the time of grant at full value.

5. How are options valued under the European P4P model?

Options will be valued at the time of vesting using intrinsic value (exercise price minus market price). As the model uses realised pay, this differs from the approach in the US and Canadian models which are based on granted pay.



6. How does ISS translate granted pay disclosures into a realised equivalent for Swiss companies?

Some Swiss companies disclose CEO remuneration on a granted pay basis. Therefore, in order to ensure that the CEO pay data for these companies is consistent with other Swiss companies as well as with other markets, ISS creates a single figure for these Swiss companies that reflects realised pay. Pay data for these Swiss companies will be collected using the following principles.

All fixed compensation (including base salary, perquisites, pension, and other forms of compensation), as well as the annual cash bonus, any deferred/share bonuses, and any service-based share grants (e.g. time-vesting restricted stock) are captured from the emoluments table for the year of grant. These types of compensation are in essence considered to be realised at the time of grant.

For performance share grants, as well as for stock options (both service-based and performance-based), if the company does not provide sufficient disclosure on the value of such awards paid to the CEO on a realised basis, ISS will typically calculate the value of such awards using a combination of data disclosed for the year in which the awards were originally granted and for the year in which the awards were vested.

- For **service-based stock options**, if the value of vested options or the number of vested options are not disclosed, ISS will calculate the value of vested options based on the number of options originally granted to the CEO, multiplied by the difference between the option strike price and the market price at vesting. In such cases, it will be assumed that all options originally granted to the CEO vested in full on the originally scheduled vesting date(s). ISS will capture the number of granted options from the company's pay disclosure for the year of grant. The strike price will be captured where available, typically in the pay disclosure from the year of grant. If the specific date of vesting is known, or the company discloses the market price at vesting, ISS will use this when calculating the market price at vesting; if neither are disclosed by the company, the market price and the end of the vesting year will be used. If information on the number of originally granted options to the CEO or the option strike price are not available, the company will be excluded from the P4P universe due to lack of available information.
- For performance-vesting stock options, data will be collected using the same principles as for service-based options, except that it will not be assumed that all originally granted options vested. Therefore, if the value of vested options or the number of vested performance options are not disclosed, ISS will calculate the value of vested performance options by multiplying the number of originally granted options by the percentage of options that vested, then multiplying this figure by the difference between the option strike price and the market price at vesting. Data on the percentage of vested options will be captured from the pay disclosure from the year of vesting. If the company does not disclose the percentage of performance options that vested, the company will be excluded from the P4P universe due to lack of available information.
- For **performance share awards**, if the value of vested awards is not disclosed, ISS will calculate the value of vested performance share awards based on the number of vested awards



multiplied by the market share price at vesting. If the specific date of vesting is known, or the company discloses the market price at vesting, ISS will use this when calculating the market price at vesting; if neither are disclosed by the company, the market price and the end of the vesting year will be used. If the number of vested performance share awards is not known, ISS will capture the number of granted performance share awards from the pay disclosure from the year of grant, and will multiply this by the percentage of performance share awards that vested based on the company disclosure from the year of vesting. If either the original number of performance share awards granted to the CEO or the percentage of vested awards are not disclosed, the company will be excluded from the P4P universe due to lack of available information.

For other types of long-term performance remuneration, ISS will capture data using the same principles used to capture data for stock options or performance share grants as appropriate.

7. During the recent financial year, a company had multiple CEOs in post. How does the model handle this?

If the company has co-CEOs in post at the same time, the higher total compensation figure will be used. However, the impact of co-CEO compensation costs may be addressed separately as part of ISS' qualitative executive compensation evaluation.

If only one CEO is in post at any point in time, ISS will typically use the pay of the CEO in office at the end of the fiscal year as an input to the model. Exceptions can be made in case there have been multiple recent CEO changes, in which case ISS will include the pay of the longest serving CEO. For CEOs in office for only part of the year, ISS will calculate an annualized basic pay figure.

8. In a company where the CEO is not a Board Member and the lead Executive Director is the Executive Chairman, whose pay is used in the model?

The model takes the CEO pay data as an input, unless he or she is not the highest paid executive, in which case the pay data for the 'lead executive' has been used i.e., the executive chairman.

9. Does ISS take into account the pay of other executive directors or the board as a whole in the European P4P model?

No, not in the current version.

10. What comparator group will ISS use for companies whose annual meeting precedes that for most or all peers?

ISS uses the latest publicly disclosed compensation data available when building peer groups, which, in some instances, may be drawn from the previous year.



MODEL

11. What are the RDA, MOM and PTA models?

At the core of the quantitative methodology in the US, Canadian and European models are three measures of alignment between executive pay and company performance: two *relative* measures where a company's pay-for-performance alignment is evaluated in reference to a group of comparable companies, and one *absolute* measure, where alignment is evaluated independently of other companies' performance.

The three measures are:

- ➤ Relative Degree of Alignment (RDA). This relative measure compares the percentile ranks of a company's CEO pay and TSR performance, relative to an industry-and-size derived comparison group, over a three-year period.
- Multiple of Median (MOM). This relative measure expresses the prior year's CEO pay as a multiple of the median pay of its comparison group for the same period.
- Pay-TSR Alignment (PTA). This absolute measure compares the trends of the CEO's annual pay and the value of an investment in the company over the prior five-year period.

Further information on these measures can be found in the white paper which accompanies the European pay-for-performance model.

12. Does the RDA model always require three years of data?

While this is the standard for the model, the model can run with less pay history if, for example, a company has come to the market via an IPO more recently. For companies with a trading history of three years or more, a minimum of three years of pay data is required for the company to be included in the model.

13. Why is the PTA chart not present for certain companies?

While the PTA model typically runs on five years of pay data, it can run when there is a minimum of four years of pay data. However, due to recent changes in market practice, in the German market the majority of companies will not have even 4 years of realized pay data available and so the PTA chart will not appear for these companies.

14. Why does the model use TSR as a performance measure?

ISS recognises that there are many ways to measure corporate performance, and that the choice of appropriate metrics, particularly for incentive plans, will vary depending on the industry or company-specific characteristics and situation.



However, when ISS developed the original pay-for-performance model for the US in 2012, it chose TSR as the measure of performance in response to client feedback that it was a key metric for investors in the context of pay-for-performance evaluation over the long-term. Although TSR has attracted some criticism, it remains one of the most transparent and popular measures with the majority of our clients, and it was, and is still, a measure used by the SEC. It was also perceived to be a measure generally well-understood by investors in most markets, which is important for a global approach.

15. How were the thresholds for High, Medium and Low concern selected for the European model?

Thresholds for each test (RDA, MOM, and PTA) are determined for each market, ultimately deriving different sets of thresholds for STOXX600 vs. non-STOXX600 companies, and segmenting those by country pay band. Each model output is reviewed by our Research teams, and the level of concern verified as appropriate for the company. The thresholds are reviewed annually to determine if any updates are warranted.

16. Can the model handle subject companies and peers from European countries which use different currencies?

Yes, a currency conversion function has been implemented within the model which supports this exact scenario e.g. there is a subject company from France which uses the Euro (EUR), and it has a peer company from the United Kingdom which reports its pay figures in sterling (GBP) and one from Norway which reports its pay in Krone (NOK.)

The rates used by the currency conversion function are supplied by S&P and are the WM/Reuters closing mid-exchange rates compiled at approximately 16:00h (London time.) These are updated every six months on 31 December and 30 June. The same FX rate is applied to the remuneration data for all FYs to minimize volatility. The current rates are as shown in the table below – the model requires all inputs to be in Euros. The below applies from June 30, 2016 until December 31, 2016:

<u>Currency</u>	<u>Rate</u>
DKK to EUR	1 to 0.1344
NOK to EUR	1 to 0.1073
SEK to EUR	1 to 0.1062
CHF to EUR	1 to 0.9240
GBP to EUR	1 to 1.2033
USD to EUR	1 to 0.9001



17. How will the overall level of concern be calculated?

The research report will display the concern levels for each of the three tests (RDA, MOM and PTA), as well as an overall concern level.

- A single High concern level for any of the three tests will result in a High concern level for the overall scenario
- A single Medium concern level for any of the three tests will result in a Medium concern level for the scenario; however, two Medium concern levels will result in an overall High concern level for the scenario
- And for a Low concern level for the overall scenario, all tests must have a Low concern level

18. How will the model be used in ISS benchmark research?

From the 2014 ISS Policy Survey, 83 per cent of investors who responded supported the development of a European pay for performance quantitative methodology, including the use of peer group comparisons. After having implemented the pay for performance model for Europe in 2016, the 2016 ISS policy survey confirmed that 92 percent of investors support the model outcomes as a contributing factor within the current holistic approach.

The European Pay for Performance model comprises three quantitative tests resulting in an overall level of concern, which will be included in the ISS research reports for companies covered by the model. Model outcomes will constitute a material factor among others that analysts use where relevant within a qualitative review of a company's remuneration practices and consider when arriving at a vote recommendation. Put another way, any remuneration-related vote recommendations will be based on a holistic review considering relevant qualitative and quantitative factors.

For clients who partner with ISS on their own customised voting policies, the European Pay for Performance model and/or underlying data may also be an input into their final vote decisions.

As of the 2017 policy year, pay-for-performance factors are now a part of the Remuneration Pillar in ISS QualityScore and will reference the pay-for-performance results from the Relative Degree of Alignment (RDA), Multiple of Median (MOM), and Pay-TSR Alignment (PTA) tests that can be viewed on each company's research report. For the first year, these factors are included in ISS QualityScore for reference only. For newly covered companies, the pay-for-performance questions will only apply after the next research report is published for these companies and where a pay-for-performance analysis is included.

PEERS

19. How were the ISS-selected peers allocated to a company?

The peer group selection algorithm used in the US and Canadian model was implemented for the European P4P model, as described in the P4P white paper..



ISS' methodology for selecting peers maintains a focus on identifying companies that are reasonably similar to the subject company in terms of industry profile, size, and market capitalization, taking into account a company's self-selected peers to guide industry selections. This peer group is used with respect to two of the three quantitative pay-for-performance screens that may trigger and in-depth review and analysis of a company's pay program in connection with say on pay evaluations.

ISS' selected peer group generally contains a minimum of 14 (and always at least 12) and maximum of 24 companies, based on the following factors:

- 1) The GICS industry classification of the target company
- 2) The GICS industry classifications of the company's disclosed CEO pay benchmarking peers
- 3) Size constraints for both revenue (or assets for certain financial companies) and market value
- 4) The band inclusion of the target company.

Subject to the size constraints and pay band prioritisation, and while choosing companies that push the subject company's size closer to the median of the peer group, peers are selected from a potential peer universe in the following order:

- 1. from the subject's own 8-digit GICS group
- 2. from the subject's peers' 8-digit GICS groups
- 3. from the subject's 6-digit GICS group
- 4. from the subject's peers' 6-digit GICS groups
- 5. from the subject's 4-digit GICS group
- 6. from the subject's own 2-digit GICS group

In case multiple seed peers qualify for the same group, priority in the selection process is given to the seed peers the subject has chosen in its own peer group and the distance in size (by the appropriate revenue or asset size comparison) between the subject and seed peer. Because the disclosure of company selected peers remains limited in Europe (i.e. the level of disclosure is approximately 6% of the 2017 coverage universe) and is concentrated in a few markets, the selection process does not look at counter references (i.e. whether the seed peer has chosen the subject company as a peer or the number of peer selections among the seed peer and the subject company's peers and the companies that have chosen the subject as a peer) in order to avoid significant bias.

20. Will a company's self-selected peers always appear in the ISS peer group, if they meet ISS' size constraints?

Not necessarily. While the methodology does place a priority on the company's own peer selections, there are a number of reasons why a company-selected peer may not appear in the final ISS list, even if it meets the relevant size (revenue or assets and market capitalization) parameters. As noted above, the methodology also places priority on other factors as it builds the peer group:

- > The company's own 8-digit GICS category
- > Maintaining the subject company size at or near the median of its peer group



> Maintaining the approximate distribution of GICS industry codes as reflected in the company's self-selected peer group

At times, including a company's self-selected peer may push the subject company away from the median, or lead to an overrepresentation of that industry within the final peer group. In these cases the company's self-selected peer may not be included. In addition, if a company's self-selected peer is the only peer company in its 6- and 8-digit GICS category, that industry grouping will not be utilized in the peer selection process (since the company may have selected that peer solely due to geographic proximity, for example).

21. What is the minimum number of peers the model requires?

The model requires a minimum of 12 peers to run.

22. What are GICS codes? Who can a company contact if it disagrees with the GICS classification it has been assigned?

The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) was developed by Standard & Poor's and MSCI in response to the financial community's need for a reliable, complete (global) standard industry classification system. GICS codes correspond to various business or industrial activities, such as Oil & Gas Drilling or Wireless Telecommunication Services. GICS is based upon a classification of economic sectors, which is further subdivided into a hierarchy of industry groups, industries and sub-industries. The GICS methodology is widely accepted as the industry analysis framework for investment research, portfolio management, and asset allocation.

ISS does not classify companies into the GICS codes. Please contact Standard & Poor's at 1-800-523-4534 if you believe that a company has been misclassified.

23. If a company does not agree with its assigned peers, what should it do?

The company should contact the ISS Helpdesk via <u>EuropeanP4PSupport@issgovernance.com</u>. ISS does not intend to amend any peers during season, but will review all feedback on the model on an annual basis.

24. What opportunities will companies have to communicate changes made to their benchmarking peer groups following their more recent disclosures?

In December, ISS provides companies a "peer update" opportunity to allow issuers to communicate changes made to their pay benchmarking peer groups following their most recent disclosures. During the update process, companies can inform ISS of updates to the peer groups they used to benchmark lead executive compensation that will be reported in their upcoming proxy materials (not to benchmark the upcoming year's pay).



Companies that do not participate in the ISS peer update process will continue to have their most recently disclosed compensation peers used in the ISS peer group construction process.

25. What companies can be used as peer companies? Will ISS use companies that an issuer considers as peers (specified in the proxy) to develop the ISS comparator group?

If a company discloses the names of public companies that it uses as its peers, ISS will collect the data on those companies even if they are not in the index of companies that are screened through ISS' quantitative pay-for-performance model (STOXX600 and local main indices). If these companies fit ISS' criteria for peers, then they may be used as ISS peers as of the next update of ISS peer groups for the following year's analysis. Note: if a company participates in ISS' peer submission process, its yet-to-be disclosed peers would be considered in the relevant fiscal year's analysis.

26. Why are there no peers from outside Europe in this model, given ISS already operates US and Canadian P4P models?

Institutional investors were asked for their input when the model was being developed, and the consensus was that only European peers should be included in the model. This methodology was carried forward into the latest year, and is consistent with the region-specific approach of the US and Canada P4P models.

COVERAGE

27. How does a company know whether it will have a pay-for-performance profile?

If a company is in the coverage list below in December 2016, a pay for performance profile will be generated for it, unless it is one of the minority of companies excluded for poor or limited disclosure practices. If the company wishes to confirm whether it will have a profile, and what the overall pay number used will be, the company should email the ISS Helpdesk via EuropeanP4PSupport@issgovernance.com.

If a company has been excluded from the P4P model for poor or limited disclosure, it is excluded for the year. However, the pay disclosures will be reassessed annually, and if greater information is subsequently provided, the company may appear in the P4P model as both a subject and a peer company in future years.

Country	Index	
European	STOXX-600	
United Kingdom	FTSE All-Share (ex-investment trusts)	



Ireland	ISEQ 20		
France	Widely held companies within the CAC All tradable		
Belgium	BEL 20		
Netherlands	AEX25/AMX25		
Luxembourg	LuxX		
Denmark	OMX Copenhagen 20		
Norway	OBX		
Sweden	OMX Stockholm 30		
Finland	OMX Helsinki 25		
Italy	FTSE-MIB / FTSE-Midcap		
Spain	IBEX 35		
Portugal	PSI 20		
Greece	FTSE ATHEX Large Cap Index 25		
Germany	DAX30/MDAX50/SDAX 50/TecDAX		
Switzerland	SMI 20/SMIM 30		
Austria	ATX 20		

28. How often is the coverage universe updated and when?

The coverage universe will be updated in December 2016, and the peers in the model will be finalized by January, 2017. The coverage universe will be updated on a yearly basis.

29. Why does the European P4P model operate a banded approach when this is not present in the US and Canadian models?

This is described in detail in the European P4P white paper. In essence, it is to handle the spread in average CEO pay levels within the different European countries in such a way as to avoid introducing bias into the model.

30. Which countries sit in which bands, and how was this decided?

The constituents of the country bands are shown below. The membership of each band can be adjusted, although there are no current plans to do so, in order that a country could move between different



bands to reflect changes in market practice over time. The placing of countries within bands will be reviewed annually.

Band	А	В	С	D
Constituents	UK Ireland Jersey	Germany Switzerland	Belgium France Italy Netherlands Sweden	Austria Denmark Finland Greece Luxembourg
			Spain	Norway Portugal

The country bands were constructed based on the testing of the data used by the model to identify country groupings around quantum of total CEO pay, adjusted for average company size. They were also discussed with institutional clients during the model development phase to check that the company placings were in line with expectations. After the 2016 season, CEO pay trends were reviewed for each country, and it was determined the band constituent placing remains appropriate.



This document and all of the information contained in it, including without limitation all text, data, graphs, and charts (collectively, the "Information") is the property of Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS), its subsidiaries, or, in some cases third party suppliers.

The Information has not been submitted to, nor received approval from, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other regulatory body. None of the Information constitutes an offer to sell (or a solicitation of an offer to buy), or a promotion or recommendation of, any security, financial product or other investment vehicle or any trading strategy, and ISS does not endorse, approve, or otherwise express any opinion regarding any issuer, securities, financial products or instruments or trading strategies.

The user of the Information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made of the Information.

ISS MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF ORIGINALITY, ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, NON-INFRINGEMENT, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY, AND FITNESS for A PARTICULAR PURPOSE) WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE INFORMATION.

Without limiting any of the foregoing and to the maximum extent permitted by law, in no event shall ISS have any liability regarding any of the Information for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential (including lost profits), or any other damages even if notified of the possibility of such damages. The foregoing shall not exclude or limit any liability that may not by applicable law be excluded or limited.



The Global Leader In Corporate Governance

www.issgovernance.com